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Plaintiff _________ (“Plaintiff”), individually and on behalf of all others similarly 

situated, by and through his attorneys, alleges the following upon information and belief, except 

as to those allegations concerning Plaintiff, which are alleged upon personal knowledge. 

Plaintiff’s information and belief is based upon, among other things, his counsel’s investigation, 

which includes without limitation: (a) review and analysis of regulatory filings made by Trevena, 

Inc. (“Trevena” or the “Company”) with the United States (“U.S.”) Securities and Exchange 

Commission (“SEC”); (b) review and analysis of press releases and media reports issued by and 

disseminated by Trevena; and (c) review of other publicly available information concerning 

Trevena. 

NATURE OF THE ACTION AND OVERVIEW 

1. This is a class action on behalf of persons and entities that acquired Trevena 

securities between May 2, 2016 and October 8, 2018, inclusive (the “Class Period”), seeking to 

pursue remedies under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”). 

2. Trevena is purportedly a biopharmaceutical company that develops innovative 

therapies for serious medical conditions.  

3. Oliceridine is the Company’s product candidate for the management of moderate-

to-severe acute pain where intravenous administration is preferred. OLINVO is the proprietary 

name for oliceridine. 

4. On February 21, 2017, the Company reported that Phase 3 trials for oliceridine 

did not show consistent statistically significant results across three different doses in improving 

the occurrence of side effects when compared to morphine. 

5. On this news, the Company’s share price fell $2.86 per share, or over 40%, to 

close at $4.27 per share on February 21, 2017, on usually heavy trading volume. 

6. Then, on October 9, 2018, the FDA released a briefing report that revealed that 

the Company and the FDA had disagreements over the Phase 3 study design and that oliceridine 

had an abuse and overdose potential similar to morphine. 

7. On this news, the Company’s share price fell $1.91 per share, or over 64%, to 

close at $1.07 per share on October 9, 2018, on unusually heavy trading volume. 
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8. Throughout the Class Period, Defendants made materially false and/or misleading 

statements, as well as failed to disclose material adverse facts about the Company’s business, 

operations, and prospects. Specifically, Defendants failed to disclose to investors: (1) that the 

FDA had raised concerns that the Company’s Phase 3 endpoints would not yield statistically 

significant results; (2) that the Company’s Phase 3 studies would not produce sufficient data on 

the safety of oliceridine to support the proposed dosing; (3) that oliceridine’s efficacy and safety 

results would not substantially differ from those of morphine; (4) that, as a result, oliceridine was 

reasonably likely to have an abuse and overdose potential similar to morphine; (5) that, as a 

result, oliceridine’s likelihood of FDA approval was materially impacted; and (6) that, as a result 

of the foregoing, Defendants’ positive statements about the Company’s business, operations, and 

prospects were materially false and/or misleading and/or lacked a reasonable basis. 

9. As a result of Defendants’ wrongful acts and omissions, and the precipitous 

decline in the market value of the Company’s securities, Plaintiff and other Class members have 

suffered significant losses and damages. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

10. The claims asserted herein arise under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange 

Act (15 U.S.C. §§ 78j(b) and 78t(a)) and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder by the SEC (17 

C.F.R. § 240.10b-5). 

11. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. § 1331 and Section 27 of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. § 78aa). 

12. Venue is proper in this Judicial District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and 

Section 27 of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. § 78aa(c)).  Substantial acts in furtherance of the 

alleged fraud or the effects of the fraud have occurred in this Judicial District.  Many of the acts 

charged herein, including the dissemination of materially false and/or misleading information, 

occurred in substantial part in this Judicial District, and the Company’s securities are traded 

within this Judicial District.   

13. In connection with the acts, transactions, and conduct alleged herein, Defendants 

directly and indirectly used the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, including the 
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United States mail, interstate telephone communications, and the facilities of a national securities 

exchange.  

PARTIES 

14. Plaintiff _________, as set forth in the accompanying certification, incorporated 

by reference herein, purchased Trevena securities during the Class Period, and suffered damages 

as a result of the federal securities law violations and false and/or misleading statements and/or 

material omissions alleged herein.  

15. Defendant Trevena is incorporated under the laws of Delaware with its principal 

executive offices located in Chesterbrook, Pennsylvania.  Trevena’s common stock trades on the 

NASDAQ exchange under the symbol “TRVN.” 

16. Defendant Maxine Gowen (“Gowen”) was the President and Chief Executive 

Officer (“CEO”) from November 2007 to October 1, 2018. 

17. Defendant Carrie L. Bourdow (“Bourdow”) has been the President and CEO since 

October 1, 2018. 

18. Defendants Gowen and Bourdow, (collectively the “Individual Defendants”), 

because of their positions with the Company, possessed the power and authority to control the 

contents of the Company’s reports to the SEC, press releases and presentations to securities 

analysts, money and portfolio managers and institutional investors, i.e., the market.  The 

Individual Defendants were provided with copies of the Company’s reports and press releases 

alleged herein to be misleading prior to, or shortly after, their issuance and had the ability and 

opportunity to prevent their issuance or cause them to be corrected.  Because of their positions 

and access to material non-public information available to them, the Individual Defendants knew 

that the adverse facts specified herein had not been disclosed to, and were being concealed from, 

the public, and that the positive representations which were being made were then materially 

false and/or misleading.  The Individual Defendants are liable for the false statements pleaded 

herein.  
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SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS 
  

Background 
 

19. Trevena is purportedly a biopharmaceutical company that develops innovative 

therapies for serious medical conditions.  

20. Oliceridine is the Company’s product candidate for the management of moderate-

to-severe acute pain where intravenous administration is preferred. OLINVO is the proprietary 

name for oliceridine. 

Materially False and Misleading 
Statements Issued During the Class Period 

 
21. The Class Period begins on May 2, 2016.  On that day, the Company issued a 

press release entitled “Trevena Announces Successful End-of-Phase 2 Meeting with FDA and 

Outlines Phase 3 Program for Oliceridine.” Therein, the Company stated, in relevant part:  

KING OF PRUSSIA, PA, May 2, 2016 – Trevena, Inc. (NASDAQ: TRVN), a 
clinical stage biopharmaceutical company focused on the discovery and 
development of biased ligands targeting G protein coupled receptors, today 
announced the successful completion of the End-of-Phase 2 Meeting process 
with the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA).  The company 
has reached general agreement with the FDA on key elements of the Phase 3 
program to support a New Drug Application (NDA) for oliceridine (TRV130), 
to which the FDA has granted Breakthrough Therapy designation. 

“We are very pleased with the outcome of our End-of-Phase 2 discussion with the 
FDA,” said Maxine Gowen, Ph.D., chief executive officer. “We appreciate the 
valuable guidance the FDA has provided, and look forward to continuing a 
constructive relationship as we advance our Phase 3 registration program.  We 
remain focused on bringing oliceridine to market as a new and potentially 
differentiated analgesic for patients and caregivers seeking alternatives to 
conventional opioids.” 

End-of-Phase 2 meeting 

The FDA agreed that pivotal efficacy trials in bunionectomy and abdominoplasty 
patients include appropriate patient populations to support an indication for 
moderate to severe acute pain.  The agency also confirmed the need for at least 
1,100 patients exposed to oliceridine across the development program for the 
purposes of evaluating safety and tolerability.  This database should include a 
sufficient number of patients with higher exposures and longer durations of 
oliceridine therapy.  In addition, general agreement was reached on the 
company’s planned clinical, nonclinical, clinical pharmacology, and chemistry, 
manufacturing and control (CMC) activities to support the planned NDA.  
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Overview of the Oliceridine Phase 3 program 

 The oliceridine Phase 3 program includes two pivotal efficacy trials evaluating 
moderate-to-severe acute pain: the APOLLO-1 study will evaluate pain for 48 
hours following bunionectomy, and the APOLLO-2 study will evaluate pain for 
24 hours following abdominoplasty.  In each trial, patients will be randomized to 
receive placebo, morphine, or one of three regimens of oliceridine by patient-
controlled analgesia (PCA) for the management of their post-operative pain. Each 
study will enroll approximately 375 patients, allocated equally across study arms.  

 The primary endpoint for both APOLLO studies will be a responder analysis 
proposed by the company comparing active treatment arms to placebo. A 
responder is defined as a patient experiencing a sum of pain intensity difference 
(SPID) at the end of the treatment period that corresponds to at least a 30% 
improvement from baseline without early discontinuation and without rescue 
pain medication. 

 Secondary endpoints in both APOLLO studies will include comparisons of 
oliceridine efficacy, safety, and tolerability to morphine.  A respiratory safety 
endpoint will measure prevalence and duration of hypoventilation, which will be a 
clinical assessment as in the company’s Phase 2b abdominoplasty study. 

 The APOLLO study designs were informed in part by the company’s Phase 2b 
abdominoplasty study, which also used PCA dosing.  Powering assumptions 
included similar performance of PCA-administered oliceridine in both APOLLO 
studies as was observed in the Phase 2b study.  In a post-hoc evaluation using the 
Phase 3 responder analysis, both doses in the company’s Phase 2b study in 
abdominoplasty yielded analgesic efficacy similar to morphine, and significantly 
higher than placebo (p ≤ 0.0005 for both oliceridine treatment arms).  In addition, 
using the Phase 3 respiratory safety endpoint, both doses in the company’s Phase 
2b study showed significantly less respiratory safety burden for oliceridine than 
morphine (p ≤ 0.0003 for both oliceridine treatment arms). 

 The development program will include at least 1,100 patients exposed to 
oliceridine.  The on-going open-label ATHENA-1 safety study is enrolling 
patients experiencing pain as a result of either a medical diagnosis or surgery. In 
this study, patients may receive oliceridine as-needed either as an intermittent 
bolus or via PCA device, with doses and durations appropriate to manage their 
pain. 

(Emphasis added.) 

22. On May 5, 2016, the Company issued a press release to announce its financial 

results for the first quarter 2016. Therein, the Company stated, in relevant part:  

“The first quarter set the stage for a critical year in Trevena’s evolution,” said 
Maxine Gowen, Ph.D., chief executive officer. “We had a successful End-of-
Phase 2 discussion of oliceridine with the FDA, and look forward to completing 
our ongoing Phase 3 program aimed at both approval and differentiation of 
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oliceridine for moderate to severe acute pain. In addition, we completed 
enrollment of the BLAST-AHF Phase 2b Study of TRV027 for acute heart failure 
and expect to present topline data later this month.” 

* * * 

 Conducted a successful End-of-Phase 2 meeting for oliceridine with the FDA 
and announced details of the Phase 3 clinical program. Earlier this week, the 
company announced that it had reached agreement with the FDA on key elements 
of the Phase 3 program to support a New Drug Application (NDA) for oliceridine. 
The company also provided additional details of the Phase 3 clinical program, 
which will include two 375-patient, randomized, double-blind, placebo- and 
active-controlled, pivotal efficacy trials: the APOLLO-1 study, which will 
evaluate pain for 48 hours following bunionectomy; and the APOLLO-2 study, 
which will evaluate pain for 24 hours following abdominoplasty. In each trial, 
patients will be randomized to receive placebo, morphine, or one of three 
regimens of oliceridine by patient-controlled analgesia (PCA) for the management 
of their post-operative pain, with approximately 75 patients enrolled per study 
arm. The primary endpoint for both APOLLO studies will be a responder analysis 
comparing active treatment arms to placebo. Secondary endpoints in both 
APOLLO studies will include comparisons of oliceridine efficacy, safety, and 
tolerability to morphine. 
 
In January, the company initiated the Phase 3 clinical program with the 
enrollment of patients in the open label ATHENA study, which is evaluating the 
safety and tolerability of oliceridine in patients with moderate-to-severe acute 
pain caused by medical conditions or surgery. Patients will be treated with 
oliceridine on an as-needed basis via IV bolus, PCA administration, or both, as 
determined by the investigator. 
 
The company expects to start the APOLLO studies in the second quarter of this 
year, and to report top-line data from these studies in the first quarter of 2017. The 
company continues to expect to file an NDA in the second half of 2017. 

Financial Results 

Net loss attributable to common stockholders for the quarter ended March 31, 
2016 was $17.8 million, or $0.35 per share, compared to $12.9 million, or $0.33 
per share for the quarter ended March 31, 2015. Research and development 
expenses were $15.8 million in the first quarter of 2016 compared to $10.6 
million for the same period in 2015, due to increased clinical trial expenses; 
general and administrative expenses were $3.9 million, compared to $3.1 million 
for the first quarter of 2015. 

23. The same day, the Company filed a quarterly report on Form 10-Q with the SEC 

for the period ended March 31, 2016, reiterating the statements in the press release regarding the 

Company’s financial results and continued success. 
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24. On August 4, 2016, the Company issued a press release to announce its financial 

results for the second quarter 2016. Therein, the Company stated, in relevant part:  

“This quarter marked an important milestone for the company’s oliceridine 
program with the initiation of our two Phase 3 pivotal efficacy trials,” said 
Maxine Gowen, Ph.D., chief executive officer. “Following our successful End-of-
Phase-2 and Breakthrough Therapy designation meeting with the FDA in the first 
quarter, we were able to rapidly initiate the pivotal efficacy trials, which are 
enrolling well.”  

Second Quarter and Recent Highlights 

 Enrolled first patients in APOLLO-1 and APOLLO-2 Phase 3 trials of 
oliceridine. In June, the company announced the enrollment of the first patients in 
the APOLLO-1 and APOLLO-2 pivotal Phase 3 efficacy studies. APOLLO-1 is 
studying patients suffering moderate to severe pain for 48 hours after undergoing 
bunionectomy, while APOLLO-2 is studying patients suffering moderate to 
severe pain for 24 hours after undergoing abdominoplasty; both are 375-patient, 
multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo- and active-controlled studies. 
Patients are randomized to receive placebo, morphine, or one of three oliceridine 
regimens, all dosed as needed via patient-controlled analgesia (PCA) device for 
the management of their post-operative pain, with approximately 75 patients per 
study arm. The primary objective of both trials is to evaluate the analgesic 
efficacy of oliceridine versus placebo.  Secondary endpoints compare the efficacy, 
safety, and tolerability of oliceridine to morphine. The company continues to 
expect to release top-line data in the first quarter of 2017 and to file an NDA in 
the second half of 2017. 

25. The same day, the Company filed a quarterly report on Form 10-Q with the SEC 

for the period ended June 30, 2016, reiterating the statements in the press release regarding the 

Company’s financial results and continued success. 

26. On November 3, 2016, the Company issued a press release to announce its 

financial results for the third quarter 2016. Therein, the Company stated, in relevant part: 

“This quarter saw important progress for our company, with continued execution 
of our Phase 3 program for oliceridine. We had extensive engagement with the 
medical community to discuss the challenges of acute pain management in the 
hospital and how oliceridine may provide an important treatment option to 
patients and physicians,” said Maxine Gowen, Ph.D., chief executive officer. “We 
look forward to sharing top-line data from both Phase 3 APOLLO pivotal efficacy 
studies in the first quarter of 2017, and filing an NDA in the second half of next 
year.”  

Third Quarter and Recent Highlights 

La
w O

ffic
es

 of
 H

ow
ard

 G
. S

mith



 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 
8 

• APOLLO-1 and APOLLO-2 Phase 3 efficacy trials of oliceridine remain on 
track for first quarter 2017 top-line data release. The APOLLO-1 trial includes 
patients suffering moderate to severe pain after undergoing bunionectomy, while 
the APOLLO-2 trial includes patients suffering moderate to severe pain after 
undergoing abdominoplasty; both are 375-patient, multicenter, randomized, 
double-blind, placebo- and active-controlled studies. Patients are randomized to 
receive placebo, morphine, or one of three oliceridine regimens, all dosed as 
needed via patient-controlled analgesia (PCA) device for the management of their 
post-operative pain, with approximately 75 patients per study arm. The primary 
objective of both trials is to evaluate the analgesic efficacy of oliceridine versus 
placebo. Secondary endpoints compare the efficacy, safety, and tolerability of 
oliceridine to morphine.  

* * *  

Financial Results 

Net loss attributable to common stockholders for the quarter ended September 30, 
2016 was $29.9 million, or $0.57 per share, compared to $10.6 million, or $0.24 
per share for the quarter ended September 30, 2015. General and administrative 
expenses were $4.1 million in the third quarter of 2016, compared to $2.8 million 
for the third quarter of 2015. Research and development expenses were $25.5 
million in the third quarter of 2016 compared to $9.7 million for the same period 
in 2015, with the increase primarily due to expenses associated with the 
oliceridine Phase 3 program. The Company expects that research and 
development expenses will be higher in the fourth quarter of 2016 than in the 
third quarter before decreasing in 2017 as ongoing Phase 3 trials are completed.  

27. The same day, the Company filed a quarterly report on Form 10-Q with the SEC 

for the period ended September 30, 2016, reiterating the statements in the press release regarding 

the Company’s financial results and continued success. 

28. The above statements identified in ¶¶ 21-27 were materially false and/or 

misleading, and failed to disclose material adverse facts about the Company’s business, 

operations, and prospects.  Specifically, Defendants failed to disclose to investors: (1) that the 

FDA had raised concerns that the Company’s Phase 3 endpoints would not yield statistically 

significant results; (2) that the Company’s Phase 3 studies would not produce sufficient data on 

the safety of oliceridine to support the proposed dosing; (3) that oliceridine’s efficacy and safety 

results would not substantially differ from those of morphine; (4) that, as a result, oliceridine was 

reasonably likely to have an abuse and overdose potential similar to morphine; (5) that, as a 

result, oliceridine’s likelihood of FDA approval was materially impacted; and (6) that, as a result 
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of the foregoing, Defendants’ positive statements about the Company’s business, operations, and 

prospects were materially false and/or misleading and/or lacked a reasonable basis. 

29. On February 21, 2017, the Company reported that Phase 3 trials did not show 

consistent statistically significant results across the three doses in improving the occurrence of 

side effects compared to morphine. These results were disclosed in a press release entitled 

“Trevena Announces Positive Top-Line Results from Two Phase 3 Pivotal Efficacy Studies of 

Intravenous Oliceridine in Moderate-to-Severe Acute Pain.” Therein, the Company stated, in 

relevant part: 

Trevena, Inc. (NASDAQ: TRVN) today announced positive top-line results from 
its Phase 3 APOLLO-1 and APOLLO-2 pivotal efficacy studies of oliceridine in 
moderate-to-severe acute pain following bunionectomy and abdominoplasty, 
respectively. In both studies, all dose regimens achieved their primary endpoint of 
statistically greater analgesic efficacy than placebo, as measured by responder 
rate. In addition, oliceridine showed dose-related trends of improvements vs. 
morphine on numerous measures of respiratory safety and gastrointestinal 
tolerability – both key unmet needs in acute pain management.  

“These data are exciting – they confirm earlier data, and show an improved safety 
and tolerability profile of oliceridine compared to morphine, with very similar 
results across the two studies,” said Timothy Beard, M.D., FACS, Chair of 
Department of Surgery, Bend Memorial Clinic, Oregon.   

“We believe the data for all three dose regimens will support FDA approval of IV 
oliceridine with a broad indication of management of moderate-to-severe acute 
pain.   These successful trials cap a development program that has shown 
consistent differentiation of oliceridine from morphine in multiple clinical trials,” 
said Maxine Gowen, Ph.D., chief executive officer.  “We look forward to 
submitting a new drug application with the goal of bringing this innovative 
product to patients.” 

* * * 

Results of APOLLO-1 (bunionectomy) 

• All three oliceridine regimens (0.1 mg, 0.35 mg, and 0.5 mg on-demand doses) 
achieved the primary endpoint with statistically superior responder rates 
compared to placebo at 48 hours (p<0.0001, adjusted for multiplicity). 

• The 0.35 mg and 0.5 mg oliceridine dose regimens demonstrated efficacy 
comparable to morphine at 48 hours based on responder rate (both doses p<0.005 
for non-inferiority to morphine).  Both doses were also comparable to morphine 
for rates of rescue analgesic use.   
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• Following the 1.5 mg initial loading dose, all oliceridine regimens demonstrated 
rapid onset with statistically significant efficacy by 5 minutes (p<0.05).   

• Oliceridine exhibited a dose-related trend of improved respiratory safety burden 
in all three oliceridine dose regimens (p<0.05 for the 0.1 mg regimen vs. 
morphine).  Consistent with this, in all dose regimens oliceridine showed dose-
related trends of reduced prevalence of oxygen desaturation (O2 <90%) and 
lower prevalence of supplemental oxygen use (p<0.05 for the 0.1 mg regimen 
vs. morphine for both measures).   

• Oliceridine exhibited a dose-related trend of less antiemetic use compared to 
morphine (p<0.05 for all oliceridine regimens vs. morphine).  Consistent with 
this, oliceridine showed dose related trends of lower prevalence of nausea and 
vomiting in all three oliceridine regimens (p<0.05 for the 0.1 mg regimen vs. 
morphine).   

Results of APOLLO-2 (abdominoplasty) 

• All three oliceridine dose regimens achieved the primary endpoint with 
statistically superior responder rates compared to placebo (adjusted p<0.05 for the 
0.1 mg regimen; adjusted p<0.001 for the 0.35 mg and 0.5 mg regimens). 

• The 0.35 mg and 0.5 mg oliceridine dose regimens demonstrated efficacy 
comparable to morphine at 24 hours based on responder rate (p<0.05 for non-
inferiority of the 0.35 mg regimen vs. morphine).  Both doses were also 
comparable to morphine for rates of rescue analgesic use.   

• Following the 1.5 mg initial loading dose, all oliceridine regimens demonstrated 
rapid onset with statistically significant efficacy by 5 to 15 minutes (p<0.05).   

• Oliceridine showed a dose-related trend of improved respiratory safety burden in 
all three oliceridine dose regimens (p<0.05 for the 0.1 mg regimen vs. 
morphine).  Consistent with this, for all dose regimens oliceridine showed dose-
related trends of reduced prevalence of oxygen desaturation (O2 <90%) and 
lower prevalence of supplemental oxygen use (p<0.05 for the 0.1 mg regimen 
vs. morphine for both measures).   

• Oliceridine showed a dose-related trend of less antiemetic use than morphine for 
all three oliceridine regimens (p<0.05 for the 0.1 mg oliceridine regimen vs. 
morphine). Consistent with this, oliceridine showed dose-related trends of lower 
prevalence of nausea and vomiting (p<0.05 for the 0.1 mg regimen vs. 
morphine for both nausea and vomiting; p<0.05 for the 0.35 mg regimen vs. 
morphine for vomiting).   

In both studies, oliceridine was generally safe and well-tolerated.  The most 
common drug-related adverse events were nausea, vomiting, headache, and 
dizziness.   

(Emphasis added.) 
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30. On this news, the Company’s share price fell $2.86 per share, or over 40%, to 

close at $4.27 per share on February 21, 2017, on usually heavy trading volume. 

31. On March 8, 2017, the Company issued a press release to announce its financial 

results for fiscal year 2016. Therein, the Company stated, in relevant part: 

“The recent successful completion of the pivotal efficacy studies for OLINVO 
puts us in a strong position to bring this innovative analgesic to physicians and 
patients in need of a new option for managing moderate-to-severe acute pain in 
the hospital,” said Maxine Gowen, Ph.D., chief executive officer. “We believe the 
data from these studies highlight the potential for OLINVO to reduce the burden 
of opioid-related adverse effects, particularly for those patients who are at 
elevated risk for serious consequences from post-operative nausea and vomiting 
or opioid-induced respiratory depression.” 

2016 and recent corporate highlights 

 Obtained Breakthrough Therapy Designation for OLINVO. In February 
2016, the Company announced that the U.S. Food and Drug Administration 
(FDA) had awarded OLINVO Breakthrough Therapy status, a designation granted 
to new therapies intended to treat serious conditions and for which preliminary 
clinical evidence indicates that the drug may demonstrate substantial clinical 
improvement over currently available therapies. 

 Successful End-of-Phase 2 meeting with FDA. In May 2016, the Company 
announced that it had reached general agreement with the FDA on key elements 
of the Phase 3 OLINVO program to support a New Drug Application (NDA), 
including that the APOLLO-1 and APOLLO-2 pivotal efficacy trials in 
bunionectomy and abdominoplasty included appropriate patient populations to 
support an indication for moderate-to-severe acute pain. 

 In February 2017, announced positive top-line results from two Phase 3 
pivotal efficacy studies of OLINVO in moderate-to-severe acute pain. 
OLINVO demonstrated fast onset and strong opioid efficacy in hard tissue and 
soft tissue pain models, supporting the Company’s planned NDA submission and 
a potential indication for the management of moderate-to-severe acute 
pain.  Numerous measures of respiratory safety and gastrointestinal tolerability all 
showed trends of meaningful improvements for OLINVO compared to a 
commonly used IV morphine regimen. 

 Initiated Phase 3 ATHENA open label safety study of OLINVO. In January 
2016, the Company announced the launch of the OLINVO Phase 3 clinical 
program with the enrollment of patients in the open label Phase 3 ATHENA 
study. This study is evaluating the safety and tolerability of OLINVO in patients 
with acute moderate-to-severe pain in a variety of surgical settings. As of 
February 15, 2017, more than 400 patients have been treated with OLINVO, with 
no apparent off-target or unexpected drug-related adverse effects to date.  The 
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Company remains on track to submit an NDA for OLINVO in the fourth quarter 
of 2017. 

 Completed clinical pharmacology and pharmacokinetics studies suggesting 
that OLINVO may offer potentially safer dosing in hard-to-treat patients. In 
February 2017, the Company announced the completion of a number of additional 
studies of OLINVO. 

- A renal impairment study found no evidence of altered pharmacokinetics or 
accumulation in patients with renal failure, both of which occur with morphine 
and hydromorphone. 
- Preclinical and clinical studies have found no evidence of active metabolites, 
which for other opioids can cause variable and delayed adverse events. 

* * * 

Financial results 

For the fourth quarter of 2016, Trevena reported a net loss attributable to common 
stockholders of $36.1 million, or $0.67 per share, compared with a net loss 
attributable to common stockholders for the fourth quarter of 2015 of $15.5 
million, or $0.30 per share. 

For the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company incurred a net loss 
attributable to common stockholders of $103.0 million, or $1.97 per share, 
compared with a net loss attributable to common stockholders of $50.5 million, or 
$1.15 per share, for the comparable period in 2015. 

32. The same day, the Company filed an annual report on Form 10-K with the SEC 

for the year ended December 31, 2016, reiterating the statements in the press release regarding 

the Company’s financial results and continued success. 

33. On May 4, 2017, the Company issued a press release to announce financial results 

for the first quarter 2017. Therein, the Company stated, in relevant part: 

“This quarter marked a key milestone for our OLINVO program, with the 
delivery of robust data that we believe will support our new drug application and 
demonstrates the potential value of OLINVO for the management of moderate-to-
severe acute pain in the hospital,” said Maxine Gowen, Ph.D., chief executive 
officer. “There remains a critical unmet need for patients who require IV opioids 
to manage pain but are at risk for poor outcomes from opioid-related adverse 
effects.  Our successful Phase 3 data showed not only significant efficacy of 
OLINVO versus placebo to support approval, but also showed the potential for 
fewer gastrointestinal and respiratory adverse effects while providing comparable 
pain relief to a commonly used morphine regimen.” 

First quarter and recent corporate highlights 
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Announced positive top-line results from two Phase 3 pivotal efficacy studies 
of OLINVO™ (oliceridine injection) for moderate-to-severe pain. In 
February, the Company announced positive data from the APOLLO-1 and 
APOLLO-2 studies of OLINVO in moderate-to severe-acute pain following hard 
tissue and soft tissue surgeries, respectively. OLINVO demonstrated significant 
analgesic efficacy compared to placebo in both studies for all three tested dosing 
regimens. Consistent with Phase 2b results, a 0.35 mg dose regimen provided 
comparable pain relief to a common IV morphine regimen and showed potential 
to reduce opioid-related adverse effects on multiple measures of respiratory safety 
and gastrointestinal tolerability. 

OLINVO program remains on track for a new drug application (NDA) 
submission in 4Q 2017. As of March 31, 2017, approximately 600 patients have 
been treated with OLINVO in the ongoing open-label, multi-procedure ATHENA 
safety study. In addition, the Company has successfully completed a chemistry, 
manufacturing, and controls Type B pre-NDA meeting with the U.S. Food and 
Drug Administration (FDA), and all pre-NDA activities remain on track to 
support an NDA submission to the FDA in the fourth quarter of 2017. 

* * * 

Financial results 

For the first quarter of 2017, Trevena reported a net loss attributable to common 
stockholders of $20.7 million, or $0.36 per share, compared with a net loss 
attributable to common stockholders for the first quarter of 2016 of $17.8 million, 
or $0.35 per share. Research and development expenses were $16.1 million in the 
first quarter of 2017 compared to $15.8 million for the same period in 2016; 
general and administrative expenses were $4.9 million, compared to $3.9 million 
for the first quarter of 2016. 

34. The same day, the Company filed a quarterly report on Form 10-Q with the SEC 

for the period ended March 31, 2017, reiterating the statements in the press release regarding the 

Company’s financial results and continued success. 

35. On August 3, 2017, the Company issued a press release to announce its financial 

results for the second quarter 2017. Therein, the Company stated, in relevant part: 

“The second quarter saw continued progress towards our goal of delivering an 
innovative new option for patients who are at risk of adverse events associated 
with IV opioids like morphine,” said Maxine Gowen, Ph.D., chief executive 
officer. “We have now completed our Phase 3 clinical development for OLINVO 
and successfully completed our pre-NDA meetings with the FDA.  In addition, we 
have refined our commercial strategy to lay the groundwork for a successful 
commercial launch.  With the comparative data from our successful APOLLO 
pivotal efficacy studies, as well as data and investigator observations from more 
real-word use in the ATHENA open label study, we believe the value of OLINVO 
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will resonate with potential prescribers who want to improve the care of hospital 
patients suffering severe pain.” 

Second quarter and recent corporate highlights 

OLINVO™ (oliceridine injection) program remains on track for a new drug 
application (NDA) submission in September/October 2017. In July 2017, the 
Company announced that enrollment in the ATHENA open-label safety study was 
complete to support the NDA file, with 772 patients treated with OLINVO across 
more than 40 sites. In addition, the Company successfully completed a chemistry, 
manufacturing, and controls (CMC) Type B pre-NDA meeting and a preclinical 
and clinical Type B pre-NDA meeting with the U.S. Food and Drug 
Administration (FDA). All pre-NDA activities remain on track to support an 
NDA submission to the FDA in September/October of 2017. 

Hosted an Analyst Day featuring four leading experts in acute pain 
management in the hospital. In July, the Company hosted an Analyst Day where 
it provided an update on its clinical portfolio, including new data and commercial 
strategy for the OLINVO program: 

 The Company outlined its commercial strategy for OLINVO, including its plans 
to initially focus on patients who require IV opioids and are at greater risk of 
opioid-related adverse effects (ORAEs). Specifically, the Company expects to 
target medical education and post-approval promotion to eight physician 
specialties with 80 select procedures and diagnoses where pain is most severe 
and/or prolonged, and where procedure, comorbidity, or demographic factors 
place patients at elevated risk of ORAEs. These patients comprise approximately 
7 to 9 million annual hospital inpatients in the United States. 

 New analyses of the Premier Perspective® Hospital Database quantified the 
clinical and economic burden of illness associated with ORAEs in the 80 
procedures and diagnoses where the Company will initially focus its 
commercialization efforts. These analyses showed that patients undergoing these 
procedures require substantial doses of IV opioids despite multimodal analgesia, 
and that the prevalence and costs associated with ORAEs are significant. 

 Topline data from the ATHENA open-label safety study highlighted the 
successful use of OLINVO, including in the procedures and patient populations 
the Company will focus on at commercial launch. The most frequent procedures 
were orthopedic, gynecologic, colorectal, general, and plastic surgeries. OLINVO 
was administered by titration in post-anesthesia recovery rooms, as-needed by 
bolus injection, and by patient-controlled analgesia. Patients at risk of ORAEs 
were common, including patients over 65 years old and obese patients. 
Discontinuation rates were less than 5% for lack of efficacy or for adverse effects. 

 Investigator-reported observations from the ATHENA study included a 
retrospective chart review at one site that found that colorectal surgery patients 
who received OLINVO showed return of bowel function 28 hours faster than 
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similar patients at the same site treated with conventional opioids prior to the 
ATHENA study (p=0.0001 vs. historical control). 

Continued publication and medical conference presentation of OLINVO 
data. The Company presented data from the APOLLO-1 and APOLLO-2 Phase 3 
pivotal efficacy studies of OLINVO at several medical conferences, including the 
42nd Annual Regional Anesthesiology and Acute Pain Medicine Meeting 
(ASRA), the 36th Annual Scientific Meeting of the American Pain Society (APS), 
and the 32nd Annual Meeting of the Society for Ambulatory Anesthesia 
(SAMBA). In addition, the Company published original nonclinical research in 
the Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics, showing that the 
OLINVO mechanism of action may avoid triggering the opioid-induced 
hyperalgesia (OIH) associated with conventional opioids. Published research has 
shown that OIH may prolong and exacerbate pain in patients treated with 
conventional opioids. 

* * * 

Financial results 

For the second quarter of 2017, Trevena reported a net loss attributable to 
common stockholders of $20.4 million, or $0.35 per share, compared with a net 
loss attributable to common stockholders for the second quarter of 2016 of $19.2 
million, or $0.37 per share. Research and development expenses were $15.5 
million in the second quarter of 2017 compared to $17.2 million for the same 
period in 2016; general and administrative expenses were $4.4 million, compared 
to $3.7 million for the second quarter of 2016. 

36. The same day, the Company filed a quarterly report on Form 10-Q with the SEC 

for the period ended June 30, 2017, reiterating the statements in the press release regarding the 

Company’s financial results and continued success. 

37. On November 7, 2017, the Company issued a press release to announce its 

financial results for third quarter 2017. Therein, the Company stated, in relevant part:  

“The recent submission of the OLINVO NDA capped a transformative period for 
our Company,” said Maxine Gowen, Ph.D., chief executive officer. “We are now 
focused on preparing for the approval and commercialization of OLINVO, while 
continuing to advance our development pipeline following our recent strategic 
decision to halt our discovery research efforts.  To this end, new results continue 
to highlight the potential value of OLINVO for patients in a real world setting 
who require IV opioids but are at risk of opioid-related adverse events.  Positive 
interim Phase 1 data for TRV250 bode well for future clinical development of this 
exciting potential migraine therapy.” 

Third quarter and recent corporate highlights 
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 OLINVO New Drug Application submitted. The Company recently submitted 
its New Drug Application (NDA) for OLINVO to the U.S. Food and Drug 
Administration (FDA).  OLINVO is the first G protein biased ligand of the mu 
opioid receptor, a new class of opioid receptor modulator, and the first pain 
program to receive Breakthrough Therapy designation from the FDA. The 
submission includes data showing that intravenous OLINVO demonstrated 
analgesic efficacy in all three dosing regimens tested in the two Phase 3 APOLLO 
pivotal efficacy studies.  These trials were designed to support an indication for 
the management of moderate-to-severe acute pain in adult patients for whom an 
intravenous opioid is warranted. The filing also includes safety and tolerability 
data for over 1,100 patients administered OLINVO across Phase 2 and Phase 3 
studies, including the ATHENA open label safety study.  Additional 
pharmacokinetic data, clinical pharmacology data, and results from five 
randomized controlled trials with head to head comparisons to morphine, support 
potential differentiation of OLINVO. 

 New data from Phase 3 ATHENA open label safety study.  In July, the 
Company announced top-line results from the first 418 patients administered 
OLINVO to manage medical or postoperative pain in the ATHENA study, which 
was designed to model real-world use including multimodal analgesia regimens 
incorporating OLINVO.  Data for all 768 patients administered OLINVO are now 
final, and highlight the effectiveness and utility of OLINVO in treating patients 
who require an IV opioid to manage pain.  Across the ATHENA study:  

- The most common procedures were orthopedic, colorectal, gynecologic, and 
general surgeries.  Patients at elevated risk of opioid-related adverse events were 
well represented; more than 30% of patients were 65 years or older, and more 
than 50% of patients were obese, with body mass index (BMI) >30 kg/m2. 

- Only 2% of patients discontinued for adverse events, and 4% of patients 
discontinued for lack of efficacy.  The most common adverse events were nausea, 
constipation, and vomiting, with prevalence lower than in the APOLLO 
studies.  Adverse event rates associated with OLINVO administered by patient 
controlled analgesia (PCA) and as-needed bolus dosing were similar, supporting 
potential use of OLINVO in both administration paradigms.  

 Hosted an Analyst Day featuring four leading experts in acute pain 
management in the hospital. In July, the Company hosted an Analyst Day where 
it outlined its commercial strategy for OLINVO, including plans to focus on 
patients who require IV opioids and are at greater risk of opioid-related adverse 
effects (ORAEs). These patients comprise approximately 7 to 9 million annual 
hospital inpatients in the United States.  Among other data presented, 
investigator-reported observations from the ATHENA study included a 
retrospective chart review at one site that found that colorectal surgery patients 
who received OLINVO showed return of bowel function 28 hours faster than 
similar patients treated with conventional opioids  (p=0.0001 vs. historical control 
at the same site).  

* * * 
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Financial results 

For the third quarter of 2017, Trevena reported a net loss attributable to common 
stockholders of $16.0 million, or $0.27 per share, compared with a net loss 
attributable to common stockholders for the third quarter of 2016 of $29.9 
million, or $0.57 per share. Research and development expenses were $10.2 
million in the third quarter of 2017 compared to $25.5 million for the same period 
in 2016; general and administrative expenses were $5.2 million, compared to $4.1 
million for the third quarter of 2016. 

38. The same day, the Company filed a quarterly report on Form 10-Q with the SEC 

for the period ended September 30, 2017, reiterating the statements in the press release regarding 

the Company’s financial results and continued success. 

39. On January 2, 2018, the Company announced that the FDA accepted the 

Company’s New Drug Application (NDA) for OLINVO (oliceridine) Injection. 

40. On March 7, 2018, the Company issued a press release to announce its financial 

results for fiscal year 2017. Therein, the Company stated, in relevant part: 

“2017 marked important progress for Trevena as we completed our Phase 3 
program and NDA submission for OLINVO and prepared to support commercial 
launch,” said Maxine Gowen, Ph.D., chief executive officer. “We look forward to 
potential approval of OLINVO later this year, as well as advancement of our 
earlier R&D programs.  We remain committed to bringing patients innovative 
medicines for safer and more successful pain management.” 

2017 and recent corporate highlights 

 New Drug Application (NDA) for OLINVO submitted and accepted. In 
January 2018, the Company announced that the FDA has accepted the Company’s 
NDA for OLINVO.  OLINVO is an investigational product for the management 
of moderate to severe acute pain.  It is the first G protein biased ligand of the mu 
receptor designed to provide IV opioid pain relief with fewer associated adverse 
effects.  The FDA has informed the Company that it intends to convene an 
advisory committee meeting to discuss the OLINVO NDA ahead of the 
Prescription Drug User Fee Act (PDUFA) review date of November 2, 2018. If 
approved, the Company expects commercial launch of OLINVO in the first 
quarter of 2019 following DEA scheduling. 

 Announced top line data from the successful Phase 3 open label ATHENA 
safety study. In November, the Company announced top-line results from 768 
patients administered OLINVO to manage medical or postoperative pain in the 
ATHENA study, which was designed to model real-world use including 
multimodal analgesia regimens incorporating OLINVO.  Data highlight the 
potential effectiveness and utility of OLINVO in treating patients who require an 
IV opioid to manage acute pain.  Patients at elevated risk of opioid-related 
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adverse events were well represented in the study; more than 30% of patients 
were 65 years or older, and more than 50% of patients were obese, with body 
mass index (BMI) >30 kg/m2.  Only 4% of patients discontinued for lack of 
efficacy, and 2% of patients discontinued for adverse events.  Adverse event rates 
associated with OLINVO administered by patient controlled analgesia (PCA) and 
as-needed clinician-administered bolus dosing were similar, supporting potential 
use of OLINVO in both administration paradigms. 

* * * 

Financial results 

For the fourth quarter of 2017, Trevena reported a net loss attributable to common 
stockholders of $14.7 million, or $0.24 per share, compared with a net loss 
attributable to common stockholders for the fourth quarter of 2016 of $36.1 
million, or $0.67 per share.   

For the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company incurred a net loss 
attributable to common stockholders of $71.9 million, or $1.21 per share, 
compared with a net loss attributable to common stockholders of $103.0 million, 
or $1.97 per share, for the comparable period in 2016.  This reduction in 2017 
expenses compared to 2016 was largely attributable to substantially reduced R&D 
expenses following the completion of the OLINVO Phase 3 program and the 
cessation of early stage research in the fourth quarter of 2017. 

41. The same day, the Company filed an annual report on Form 10-K with the SEC 

for the year ended December 31, 2017, reiterating the statements in the press release regarding 

the Company’s financial results and continued success. 

42. On May 3, 2018, the Company issued a press release to announce its financial 

results for first quarter 2018. Therein, the Company stated, in relevant part:  

“In 2018, we have made important progress in Trevena’s evolution,” said Maxine 
Gowen, Ph.D., president and chief executive officer. “We have initiated a smooth 
and constructive transition in preparation for Carrie Bourdow to assume the CEO 
position later this year.  We also have begun to broaden the potential revenue 
from oliceridine by completing our first ex-US licensing agreements. We continue 
to have an ongoing productive dialogue with the FDA as they review our 
oliceridine NDA, and look forward to an advisory committee meeting later this 
year and potential approval in November. ” 

First quarter and recent corporate highlights 

 New Drug Application (NDA) for oliceridine submitted and accepted. In 
January 2018, the Company announced that the FDA has accepted the Company’s 
NDA for oliceridine, an investigational product for the management of moderate 
to severe acute pain.  Oliceridine is the first G protein biased ligand of the mu 
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receptor, and was designed to provide IV opioid pain relief with fewer associated 
adverse effects.  The FDA has informed the Company that it intends to convene 
an advisory committee meeting to discuss the oliceridine NDA ahead of the 
Prescription Drug User Fee Act (PDUFA) review date of November 2, 2018. If 
approved, the Company expects commercial launch of oliceridine in the first 
quarter of 2019, following DEA scheduling. 

* * * 

Financial results 

For the first quarter of 2018, Trevena reported a net loss attributable to common 
stockholders of $9.0 million, or $0.14 per share, compared with a net loss 
attributable to common stockholders for the first quarter of 2017 of $20.7 million, 
or $0.36 per share. Research and development expenses were $4.6 million in the 
first quarter of 2018 compared to $16.1 million for the same period in 2017; 
general and administrative expenses were $5.1 million, compared to $4.9 million 
for the first quarter of 2017.  

43. The same day, the Company filed a quarterly report on Form 10-Q with the SEC 

for the period ended March 31, 2018, reiterating the statements in the press release regarding the 

Company’s financial results and continued success. 

44. On August 2, 2018, the Company issued a press release to announce its financial 

results for second quarter 2018. Therein, the Company stated, in relevant part: 

“The second quarter saw important progress towards Trevena’s long-term success,” said 
Maxine Gowen, Ph.D., President and Chief Executive Officer. "We remain confident that 
the oliceridine NDA remains on track for an FDA decision by the November 2, 2018 
PDUFA date, and we look forward to discussing the oliceridine data at an Advisory 
Committee meeting, likely in October.   In addition, the second quarter saw us secure two 
important ex-US licensing transactions for oliceridine, strengthen our leadership team 
with important medical and commercial hires, and continue a smooth transition to Carrie 
Bourdow's assumption of the CEO role." 

Second quarter and recent corporate highlights 

• Prescription Drug User Fee Act (PDUFA) date for oliceridine: November 2, 
2018.  Oliceridine is an investigational product under FDA review for the management of 
moderate to severe acute pain where parenteral opioid analgesia is warranted and was 
designed to provide the pain relief of IV opioids with fewer associated adverse 
effects.  The FDA has informed the Company that it intends to convene an advisory 
committee meeting, likely in October, to discuss the oliceridine NDA.  If oliceridine is 
approved by the FDA, and following DEA scheduling, the Company expects the 
commercial launch of oliceridine in the first half of 2019. 

Financial results 
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For the second quarter of 2018, Trevena reported a net loss attributable to common 
stockholders of $9.3 million, or $0.13 per share, compared with a net loss attributable to 
common stockholders for the second quarter of 2017 of $20.4 million, or $0.35 per share. 
Research and development expenses were $5.1 million in the second quarter of 2018 
compared to $15.5 million for the same period in 2017; general and administrative 
expenses were $5.9 million, compared to $4.4 million for the second quarter of 2017. 

45. The same day, the Company filed a quarterly report on Form 10-Q with the SEC 

for the period ended June 30, 2018, reiterating the statements in the press release regarding the 

Company’s financial results and continued success. 

46. The above statements identified in ¶¶ 29-45 were materially false and/or 

misleading, and failed to disclose material adverse facts about the Company’s business, 

operations, and prospects.  Specifically, Defendants failed to disclose to investors: (1) that the 

FDA had raised concerns that the Company’s Phase 3 endpoints would not yield statistically 

significant results; (2) that the Company’s Phase 3 studies would not produce sufficient data on 

the safety of oliceridine to support the proposed dosing; (3) that oliceridine’s efficacy and safety 

results would not substantially differ from those of morphine; (4) that, as a result, oliceridine was 

reasonably likely to have an abuse and overdose potential similar to morphine; (5) that, as a 

result, oliceridine’s likelihood of FDA approval was materially impacted; and (6) that, as a result 

of the foregoing, Defendants’ positive statements about the Company’s business, operations, and 

prospects were materially false and/or misleading and/or lacked a reasonable basis. 

Disclosures at the End of the Class Period  

47. On October 9, 2018, the FDA’s Anesthetic and Analgesic Drug Products 

Advisory Committee released a briefing document (the “AADPAC Report”) ahead of its meeting 

on October 11, 2018, during which the committee would discuss the efficacy and safety of the 

Company’s oliceridine 1 milligram/milliliter injection. In its overview of key regulatory 

meetings between the Company and the FDA, the AADPAC Report revealed that the FDA 

disagreed with the Company’s proposed Phase 3 study design at the end-of-Phase 2 meeting. 

Specifically, the report stated:  

March 29, 2016 (meeting minutes April 28, 2016) –End-of-Phase 2 Meeting  
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 FDA did not agree with the proposed dosing in the Phase 3 studies. The Sponsor 
proposed dosing up to 100 mg daily (including a 0.75 mg every 1 hour as needed 
clinician administered dose), but had only studied maximum daily doses of 36.8 
mg. Further, the Sponsor did not have adequate non-clinical support for the 
proposed doses.  

 FDA did not agree with the proposed primary endpoint, as it was unclear how a 
30% improvement from baseline based on SPID correlates to an improvement in 
pain intensity scores on the NRS in the proposed setting of acute postoperative 
pain and if that change is clinically relevant.  

 FDA did not agree with the proposed non-inferiority (NI) margin for comparing 
morphine to oliceridine.  

 FDA noted that the safety database must include at least 350 patients exposed to 
the highest intended dose for the longest expected duration of use. It was noted 
that the safety database requirements might change if safety signals arise during 
development that require further evaluation.  

 Any comparative safety claims must be replicated, adequately justified for clinical 
relevance, and established in the setting of comparable efficacy between 
comparators to be considered for inclusion in labeling  

 The Applicant provided details of a proposed approach to missing data. This 
approach included replacing pain scores in the window determined dosing interval 
described in the label of the rescue medication following rescue with the pain 
score recorded immediately prior to rescue. 

May 6, 2016 – The Applicant submitted a Justification for their Responder 
Definition 

 Trevena provided their justification for a 30% improvement in pain from baseline. 
In an analysis of Study QS130-3002, the Applicant found an average percent 
improvement from baseline of 18% for placebo and 44% for morphine. Trevena 
justified the 30% improvement by stating that it was approximately the midpoint 
between the placebo and morphine. 

48. The AADPAC Report revealed disagreements between the Company and the 

FDA regarding the study design’s assessment of respiratory safety of oliceridine. Specifically, 

the report stated: 

November 8, 2016 (meeting minutes December 19, 2016) – Type C 
teleconference  

 FDA did not agree with Trevena’s proposal to evaluate the respiratory safety of 
oliceridine as compared to morphine because the definition of Respiratory Safety 
Events (RSEs) was not clearly defined and the determination of the presence of an 
RSE relied largely on clinical acumen. Even though the parameters proposed in 
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the evaluation of an RSE (respiratory rate, oxygen saturation, and MRPSS 
somnolence/sedation scores) are well accepted criteria used for the assessment of 
patients at risk for experiencing an RSE, it is unclear that a small change in these 
parameters is of clinical significance. Trevena was told to specify a clinically 
meaningful definition of an RSE, such as patients who require a clinical 
intervention after meeting a specific criterion (e.g., naloxone administration 
and/or oxygen administration with a reduction in oxygen saturation). Further, 
FDA did not agree with inclusion of sedation and somnolence in the RSE 
definition.  

 FDA stated that the statistical model proposed to evaluate the respiratory safety of 
oliceridine incorporates both the population prevalence of RSEs and the 
population conditional mean cumulative duration of RSEs to describe respiratory 
safety burden (RSB). Based on this model, a small change in event duration could 
result in a statistically significant result without clinical significance. In addition, 
the RSB endpoint is difficult to interpret and apply directly to clinical practice. 
Trevena was asked to analyze and report event duration separately from the event 
prevalence. 

May 5, 2017 – Advice on Integrated Statistical Analysis Plan (ISAP) for the 
Integrated Summary of Safety  

 Agency agreed with the proposed pooling for the ISAP, the planned subgroups for 
analysis of intrinsic and extrinsic factors, and planned summarization of adverse 
events. 

 FDA reiterated the concerns noted at the November 8, 2016, teleconference 
regarding the assessment of respiratory safety. It was noted that the RSE as 
described in the ISS statistical plan would be considered exploratory and would 
not be acceptable for a proposed labeling claim.  

49. The AADPAC Report also reviewed the safety of oliceridine. To summarize its 

findings, the report stated:  

[T]he safety results [were] considered in the context of the efficacy of the 
evaluated doses and [the review assessed] for a dose-response for safety issues. 
Many adverse events in the clinical program were consistent with opioid-related 
adverse events, including respiratory events, such as respiratory depression and 
hypoxia, and gastrointestinal events, such as nausea and vomiting. When 
evaluating the controlled Phase 3 data by randomized treatment group, many of 
the adverse events were dose-related, including respiratory safety parameters. 
While there were trends showing a decreased percentage of respiratory events 
with oliceridine than morphine for some parameters, this was not consistent 
across all parameters. Notable safety issues in the clinical program included 
hepatic adverse events and QT prolongation. An additional consideration is 
whether the safety database is adequate to support the proposed dosing.  

50. The AADPAC Report presented benefit and risk considerations to evaluate the 
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efficacy and safety of oliceridine. The report stated, in relevant part:  

The focus is on the data collected in the two controlled Phase 3 trials, Study 3001 
(in patients undergoing a bunionectomy) and Study 3002 (in patients undergoing 
an abdominoplasty). . . . 

In terms of benefit, morphine and all three oliceridine treatment regimens 
demonstrated a greater reduction in pain than placebo. There is a clear dose-
response relationship for both benefit and risk for oliceridine, with the higher dose 
regimens showing a greater reduction in pain, and a greater rate of adverse events.  

An additional consideration is the overall benefit-risk of oliceridine in comparison 
to morphine. The oliceridine 0.5 mg dose regimen looks to be slightly less 
efficacious than morphine, but with similar rates of dizziness, hypoxia, nausea, 
and vomiting. The oliceridine 0.1 and 0.35 mg dose regimens appear to be even 
less effective than morphine, with correspondingly lower rates of selected adverse 
events. Since only one dose of morphine was evaluated, there is have comparative 
efficacy and safety data for this one dose.  

51. The AADPAC Report also contained findings from the controlled substance staff 

(“CSS”) about the abuse potential of oliceridine. The report stated, in relevant part: 

The following review evaluates the abuse potential of oliceridine based on the 
abuse-related data from preclinical studies (chemistry, receptor binding, 
functional, and animal behavioral studies) and the abuse-related data from Phase 1 
and Phase 2/3 clinical studies (including a human abuse potential study, as well as 
analyses of abuse-related adverse events in all clinical studies) conducted with 
oliceridine.  

CSS is in agreement with the Sponsor [i.e., the Company] that an evaluation of 
the preclinical and clinical studies conducted with oliceridine show that the drug 
is a mu opioid agonist with high abuse potential. . . . 

Thus, an overall assessment of the abuse-related data from preclinical and clinical 
studies leads to the finding that oliceridine is a mu opioid agonist with an abuse 
potential, overdose potential and ability to produce physical dependence that is 
similar to other mu opioid agonists. 

52. On this news, the Company’s share price fell $1.91 per share, or over 64%, to 

close at $1.07 per share on October 9, 2018, on unusually heavy trading volume. 

53. On October 10, 2018, the FDA released an addendum and an erratum to the 

AADPAC Report, but neither document changed the information quoted above in ¶¶ 47-51. 

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

54. Plaintiff brings this action as a class action pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil 
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Procedure 23(a) and (b)(3) on behalf of a class, consisting of all persons and entities that 

acquired Trevena securities between May 2, 2016 and October 8, 2018, inclusive, and who were 

damaged thereby (the “Class”).  Excluded from the Class are Defendants, the officers and 

directors of the Company, at all relevant times, members of their immediate families and their 

legal representatives, heirs, successors, or assigns, and any entity in which Defendants have or 

had a controlling interest. 

55. The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all members is 

impracticable.  Throughout the Class Period, Trevena’s common shares actively traded on the 

NASDAQ.  While the exact number of Class members is unknown to Plaintiff at this time and 

can only be ascertained through appropriate discovery, Plaintiff believes that there are at least 

hundreds or thousands of members in the proposed Class.  Millions of Trevena common stock 

were traded publicly during the Class Period on the NASDAQ.  Record owners and other 

members of the Class may be identified from records maintained by Trevena or its transfer agent 

and may be notified of the pendency of this action by mail, using the form of notice similar to 

that customarily used in securities class actions. 

56. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class as all 

members of the Class are similarly affected by Defendants’ wrongful conduct in violation of 

federal law that is complained of herein.    

57. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the members of the 

Class and has retained counsel competent and experienced in class and securities litigation.  

58. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Class and 

predominate over any questions solely affecting individual members of the Class.  Among the 

questions of law and fact common to the Class are: 

(a) whether the federal securities laws were violated by Defendants’ acts as alleged 

herein;  
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(b) whether statements made by Defendants to the investing public during the Class 

Period omitted and/or misrepresented material facts about the business, operations, and prospects 

of Trevena; and  

(c) to what extent the members of the Class have sustained damages and the proper 

measure of damages. 

59. A class action is superior to all other available methods for the fair and efficient 

adjudication of this controversy since joinder of all members is impracticable.  Furthermore, as 

the damages suffered by individual Class members may be relatively small, the expense and 

burden of individual litigation makes it impossible for members of the Class to individually 

redress the wrongs done to them.  There will be no difficulty in the management of this action as 

a class action. 

UNDISCLOSED ADVERSE FACTS 

60. The market for Trevena’s securities was open, well-developed and efficient at all 

relevant times.  As a result of these materially false and/or misleading statements, and/or failures 

to disclose, Trevena’s securities traded at artificially inflated prices during the Class Period.  

Plaintiff and other members of the Class purchased or otherwise acquired Trevena’s securities 

relying upon the integrity of the market price of the Company’s securities and market 

information relating to Trevena, and have been damaged thereby. 

61. During the Class Period, Defendants materially misled the investing public, 

thereby inflating the price of Trevena’s securities, by publicly issuing false and/or misleading 

statements and/or omitting to disclose material facts necessary to make Defendants’ statements, 

as set forth herein, not false and/or misleading.  The statements and omissions were materially 

false and/or misleading because they failed to disclose material adverse information and/or 

misrepresented the truth about Trevena’s business, operations, and prospects as alleged herein. 

62. At all relevant times, the material misrepresentations and omissions particularized 

in this Complaint directly or proximately caused or were a substantial contributing cause of the 

damages sustained by Plaintiff and other members of the Class.  As described herein, during the 
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Class Period, Defendants made or caused to be made a series of materially false and/or 

misleading statements about Trevena’s financial well-being and prospects.  These material 

misstatements and/or omissions had the cause and effect of creating in the market an 

unrealistically positive assessment of the Company and its financial well-being and prospects, 

thus causing the Company’s securities to be overvalued and artificially inflated at all relevant 

times.  Defendants’ materially false and/or misleading statements during the Class Period 

resulted in Plaintiff and other members of the Class purchasing the Company’s securities at 

artificially inflated prices, thus causing the damages complained of herein when the truth was 

revealed.  

LOSS CAUSATION 

63. Defendants’ wrongful conduct, as alleged herein, directly and proximately caused 

the economic loss suffered by Plaintiff and the Class.   

64. During the Class Period, Plaintiff and the Class purchased Trevena’s securities at 

artificially inflated prices and were damaged thereby.  The price of the Company’s securities 

significantly declined when the misrepresentations made to the market, and/or the information 

alleged herein to have been concealed from the market, and/or the effects thereof, were revealed, 

causing investors’ losses. 

SCIENTER ALLEGATIONS 

65. As alleged herein, Defendants acted with scienter since Defendants knew that the 

public documents and statements issued or disseminated in the name of the Company were 

materially false and/or misleading; knew that such statements or documents would be issued or 

disseminated to the investing public; and knowingly and substantially participated or acquiesced 

in the issuance or dissemination of such statements or documents as primary violations of the 

federal securities laws.  As set forth elsewhere herein in detail, the Individual Defendants, by 

virtue of their receipt of information reflecting the true facts regarding Trevena, their control 

over, and/or receipt and/or modification of Trevena’s allegedly materially misleading 

misstatements and/or their associations with the Company which made them privy to 

confidential proprietary information concerning Trevena, participated in the fraudulent scheme 
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alleged herein.  

 
APPLICABILITY OF PRESUMPTION OF RELIANCE 

(FRAUD-ON-THE-MARKET DOCTRINE) 
 

66. The market for Trevena’s securities was open, well-developed and efficient at all 

relevant times.  As a result of the materially false and/or misleading statements and/or failures to 

disclose, Trevena’s securities traded at artificially inflated prices during the Class Period.  On 

October 9, 2017, the Company’s share price closed at a Class Period high of $12.01 per share.  

Plaintiff and other members of the Class purchased or otherwise acquired the Company’s 

securities relying upon the integrity of the market price of Trevena’s securities and market 

information relating to Trevena, and have been damaged thereby. 

67. During the Class Period, the artificial inflation of Trevena’s shares was caused by 

the material misrepresentations and/or omissions particularized in this Complaint causing the 

damages sustained by Plaintiff and other members of the Class.  As described herein, during the 

Class Period, Defendants made or caused to be made a series of materially false and/or 

misleading statements about Trevena’s business, prospects, and operations.  These material 

misstatements and/or omissions created an unrealistically positive assessment of Trevena and its 

business, operations, and prospects, thus causing the price of the Company’s securities to be 

artificially inflated at all relevant times, and when disclosed, negatively affected the value of the 

Company shares.  Defendants’ materially false and/or misleading statements during the Class 

Period resulted in Plaintiff and other members of the Class purchasing the Company’s securities 

at such artificially inflated prices, and each of them has been damaged as a result.   

68. At all relevant times, the market for Trevena’s securities was an efficient market 

for the following reasons, among others: 

(a)  Trevena shares met the requirements for listing, and was listed and actively traded 

on the NASDAQ, a highly efficient and automated market; 

(b)  As a regulated issuer, Trevena filed periodic public reports with the SEC and/or 

the NASDAQ; 

(c)  Trevena regularly communicated with public investors via established market 
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communication mechanisms, including through regular dissemination of press releases on the 

national circuits of major newswire services and through other wide-ranging public disclosures, 

such as communications with the financial press and other similar reporting services; and/or 

(d) Trevena was followed by securities analysts employed by brokerage firms who 

wrote reports about the Company, and these reports were distributed to the sales force and 

certain customers of their respective brokerage firms.  Each of these reports was publicly 

available and entered the public marketplace.  

69. As a result of the foregoing, the market for Trevena’s securities promptly digested 

current information regarding Trevena from all publicly available sources and reflected such 

information in Trevena’s share price. Under these circumstances, all purchasers of Trevena’s 

securities during the Class Period suffered similar injury through their purchase of Trevena’s 

securities at artificially inflated prices and a presumption of reliance applies. 

70. A Class-wide presumption of reliance is also appropriate in this action under the 

Supreme Court’s holding in Affiliated Ute Citizens of Utah v. United States, 406 U.S. 128 

(1972), because the Class’s claims are, in large part, grounded on Defendants’ material 

misstatements and/or omissions.  Because this action involves Defendants’ failure to disclose 

material adverse information regarding the Company’s business operations and financial 

prospects—information that Defendants were obligated to disclose—positive proof of reliance is 

not a prerequisite to recovery.  All that is necessary is that the facts withheld be material in the 

sense that a reasonable investor might have considered them important in making investment 

decisions.  Given the importance of the Class Period material misstatements and omissions set 

forth above, that requirement is satisfied here.   

NO SAFE HARBOR 

71. The statutory safe harbor provided for forward-looking statements under certain 

circumstances does not apply to any of the allegedly false statements pleaded in this Complaint. 

The statements alleged to be false and misleading herein all relate to then-existing facts and 

conditions. In addition, to the extent certain of the statements alleged to be false may be 

characterized as forward looking, they were not identified as “forward-looking statements” when 
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made and there were no meaningful cautionary statements identifying important factors that 

could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the purportedly forward-looking 

statements. In the alternative, to the extent that the statutory safe harbor is determined to apply to 

any forward-looking statements pleaded herein, Defendants are liable for those false forward-

looking statements because at the time each of those forward-looking statements was made, the 

speaker had actual knowledge that the forward-looking statement was materially false or 

misleading, and/or the forward-looking statement was authorized or approved by an executive 

officer of Trevena who knew that the statement was false when made. 

FIRST CLAIM 
Violation of Section 10(b) of The Exchange Act and  

Rule 10b-5 Promulgated Thereunder  
Against All Defendants 

 
72. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation contained above as if 

fully set forth herein.  

73. During the Class Period, Defendants carried out a plan, scheme and course of 

conduct which was intended to and, throughout the Class Period, did: (i) deceive the investing 

public, including Plaintiff and other Class members, as alleged herein; and (ii) cause Plaintiff and 

other members of the Class to purchase Trevena’s securities at artificially inflated prices.  In 

furtherance of this unlawful scheme, plan and course of conduct, Defendants, and each 

defendant, took the actions set forth herein. 

74. Defendants (i) employed devices, schemes, and artifices to defraud; (ii) made 

untrue statements of material fact and/or omitted to state material facts necessary to make the 

statements not misleading; and (iii) engaged in acts, practices, and a course of business which 

operated as a fraud and deceit upon the purchasers of the Company’s securities in an effort to 

maintain artificially high market prices for Trevena’s securities in violation of Section 10(b) of 

the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5.  All Defendants are sued either as primary participants in the 

wrongful and illegal conduct charged herein or as controlling persons as alleged below.   

75. Defendants, individually and in concert, directly and indirectly, by the use, means 

or instrumentalities of interstate commerce and/or of the mails, engaged and participated in a 
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continuous course of conduct to conceal adverse material information about Trevena’s financial 

well-being and prospects, as specified herein.   

76. Defendants employed devices, schemes and artifices to defraud, while in 

possession of material adverse non-public information and engaged in acts, practices, and a 

course of conduct as alleged herein in an effort to assure investors of Trevena’s value and 

performance and continued substantial growth, which included the making of, or the 

participation in the making of, untrue statements of material facts and/or omitting to state 

material facts necessary in order to make the statements made about Trevena and its business 

operations and future prospects in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not 

misleading, as set forth more particularly herein, and engaged in transactions, practices and a 

course of business which operated as a fraud and deceit upon the purchasers of the Company’s 

securities during the Class Period.  

77. Each of the Individual Defendants’ primary liability and controlling person 

liability arises from the following facts: (i) the Individual Defendants were high-level executives 

and/or directors at the Company during the Class Period and members of the Company’s 

management team or had control thereof; (ii) each of these defendants, by virtue of their 

responsibilities and activities as a senior officer and/or director of the Company, was privy to and 

participated in the creation, development and reporting of the Company’s internal budgets, plans, 

projections and/or reports; (iii) each of these defendants enjoyed significant personal contact and 

familiarity with the other defendants and was advised of, and had access to, other members of the 

Company’s management team, internal reports and other data and information about the 

Company’s finances, operations, and sales at all relevant times; and (iv) each of these defendants 

was aware of the Company’s dissemination of information to the investing public which they 

knew and/or recklessly disregarded was materially false and misleading.  

78. Defendants had actual knowledge of the misrepresentations and/or omissions of 

material facts set forth herein, or acted with reckless disregard for the truth in that they failed to 

ascertain and to disclose such facts, even though such facts were available to them. Such 

defendants’ material misrepresentations and/or omissions were done knowingly or recklessly and 

La
w O

ffic
es

 of
 H

ow
ard

 G
. S

mith



 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 
31 

for the purpose and effect of concealing Trevena’s financial well-being and prospects from the 

investing public and supporting the artificially inflated price of its securities.  As demonstrated 

by Defendants’ overstatements and/or misstatements of the Company’s business, operations, 

financial well-being, and prospects throughout the Class Period, Defendants, if they did not have 

actual knowledge of the misrepresentations and/or omissions alleged, were reckless in failing to 

obtain such knowledge by deliberately refraining from taking those steps necessary to discover 

whether those statements were false or misleading.  

79. As a result of the dissemination of the materially false and/or misleading 

information and/or failure to disclose material facts, as set forth above, the market price of 

Trevena’s securities was artificially inflated during the Class Period.  In ignorance of the fact that 

market prices of the Company’s securities were artificially inflated, and relying directly or 

indirectly on the false and misleading statements made by Defendants, or upon the integrity of 

the market in which the securities trades, and/or in the absence of material adverse information 

that was known to or recklessly disregarded by Defendants, but not disclosed in public 

statements by Defendants during the Class Period, Plaintiff and the other members of the Class 

acquired Trevena’s securities during the Class Period at artificially high prices and were 

damaged thereby. 

80. At the time of said misrepresentations and/or omissions, Plaintiff and other 

members of the Class were ignorant of their falsity, and believed them to be true.  Had Plaintiff 

and the other members of the Class and the marketplace known the truth regarding the problems 

that Trevena was experiencing, which were not disclosed by Defendants, Plaintiff and other 

members of the Class would not have purchased or otherwise acquired their Trevena securities, 

or, if they had acquired such securities during the Class Period, they would not have done so at 

the artificially inflated prices which they paid. 

81. By virtue of the foregoing, Defendants violated Section 10(b) of the Exchange 

Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder.  

82. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ wrongful conduct, Plaintiff and 

the other members of the Class suffered damages in connection with their respective purchases 
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and sales of the Company’s securities during the Class Period.  

SECOND CLAIM 
Violation of Section 20(a) of The Exchange Act  

Against the Individual Defendants 
 

83. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation contained above as if 

fully set forth herein.  

84. Individual Defendants acted as controlling persons of Trevena within the meaning 

of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act as alleged herein. By virtue of their high-level positions 

and their ownership and contractual rights, participation in, and/or awareness of the Company’s 

operations and intimate knowledge of the false financial statements filed by the Company with 

the SEC and disseminated to the investing public, Individual Defendants had the power to 

influence and control and did influence and control, directly or indirectly, the decision-making of 

the Company, including the content and dissemination of the various statements which Plaintiff 

contends are false and misleading. Individual Defendants were provided with or had unlimited 

access to copies of the Company’s reports, press releases, public filings, and other statements 

alleged by Plaintiff to be misleading prior to and/or shortly after these statements were issued 

and had the ability to prevent the issuance of the statements or cause the statements to be 

corrected.  

85. In particular, Individual Defendants had direct and supervisory involvement in the 

day-to-day operations of the Company and, therefore, had the power to control or influence the 

particular transactions giving rise to the securities violations as alleged herein, and exercised the 

same. 

86. As set forth above, Trevena and Individual Defendants each violated Section 

10(b) and Rule 10b-5 by their acts and omissions as alleged in this Complaint. By virtue of their 

position as controlling persons, Individual Defendants are liable pursuant to Section 20(a) of the 

Exchange Act. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ wrongful conduct, Plaintiff and 

other members of the Class suffered damages in connection with their purchases of the 

Company’s securities during the Class Period.  
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for relief and judgment, as follows: 

(a) Determining that this action is a proper class action under Rule 23 of the Federal 

Rules of Civil Procedure; 

(b) Awarding compensatory damages in favor of Plaintiff and the other Class 

members against all defendants, jointly and severally, for all damages sustained as a result of 

Defendants’ wrongdoing, in an amount to be proven at trial, including interest thereon; 

(c) Awarding Plaintiff and the Class their reasonable costs and expenses incurred in 

this action, including counsel fees and expert fees; and  

(d) Such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.  

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
 

Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury. 

 
 
Dated: _________, 2018 GLANCY PRONGAY & MURRAY LLP 
 

 
By:  _s/_______Draft__________ 

 
Lionel Z. Glancy 
Robert V. Prongay 
Lesley F. Portnoy 
Charles H. Linehan 
1925 Century Park East, Suite 2100 
Los Angeles, CA 90067 
Telephone:  (310) 201-9150 
Facsimile:   (310) 201-9160 
 
LAW OFFICES OF HOWARD G. SMITH 
Howard G. Smith 
3070 Bristol Pike, Suite 112 
Bensalem, PA 19020 
Telephone: (215) 638-4847 
Facsimile: (215) 638-4867 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff ____________ 
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